
 
UNITED 
NATIONS 

 

E 
 

 

 
Economic and Social 
Council 
 
 

 
 
Distr. 
GENERAL 
 
E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
25 March 2002 
 
Original:  ENGLISH 
 

 
COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS 

 
Fifty-eighth session 

 
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 2nd MEETING 

 
Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, 
on Tuesday, 19 March 2002, at 10 a.m. 

 
Chairperson:     Mr. JAKUBOWSKI    (Poland) 

 
 

CONTENTS 
 
STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SPAIN 

STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER OF STATE IN CHARGE OF HUMAN RIGHTS 
OF TURKEY 

STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SLOVENIA 

STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SWEDEN 

STATEMENT BY THE DEPUTY PRIME MINISTER OF CROATIA 

ORGANIZATION OF THE WORK OF THE SESSION 
              
 This record is subject to correction. 
 
 Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages.  They should be set 
forth in a memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record.  They should be sent 
within one week of the date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, 
room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva. 
 
 Any corrections to the records of the public meetings of the Commission at this session 
will be consolidated in a single corrigendum, to be issued shortly after the end of the session. 
 
GE.02-11462  (E)    210302    250302 



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 2 
 

The meeting was called to order at 10.05 a.m. 
 

STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SPAIN 
 
1. Mr. PIQUÉ I CAMPS (Spain), speaking on behalf of the European Union and the 
associated countries of Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, 
Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia and Turkey, paid tribute to the High Commissioner 
for Human Rights for her invaluable work and dedication and regretted that she was about to 
depart from her post. 
 
2. The sessions of the Commission were an opportunity for reflection and decision-making 
on the various problems in the field of human rights, and the Union undertook to work to 
reinforce the role of the Commission and its capacity for initiative and action.  The Union was 
aware of the links between peace and international stability on the one hand and respect for 
human rights on the other.  It would approach the Commission�s tasks in a spirit of cooperation 
and sincere commitment to improving the situation of human rights throughout the world and it 
called upon all Member States to increase their level of commitment to, and cooperation with, 
the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR), the treaty bodies and the 
special rapporteurs and representatives. 
 
3. Despite the progress made since the proclamation of the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights, there were many areas that still required attention and action.  It was not enough 
to demand universal compliance with such basic civil and political rights as freedom of 
expression or freedom of religion and conviction.  There was also a whole series of economic 
and social rights to be respected, which formed the very basis of social development and 
progress and were intrinsic to human dignity and the freedoms fundamental to the rule of law.  
All rights were not only universal but also indivisible, since material progress counted for 
nothing as long as entire countries were subject to tyranny, thousands of people were displaced, 
or discrimination on sexual or ideological grounds persisted. 
 
4. That having been said, the Union had no intention of imposing its own rules of behaviour 
on other countries.  Rights that were accepted as universal were demanded by human dignity 
itself and every State that had freely decided to become a party to conventional instruments must 
fulfil its specific obligations under those instruments.  The Union had made great efforts to 
institutionalize and implement those rights and did not intend to evade its responsibilities in the 
matter.  The formulation of a policy for international solidarity with the most disadvantaged, the 
difficulties experienced by immigrants in integrating into society, and the effective elimination 
of intolerance and xenophobia were just some of the challenges facing the peoples of Europe. 
 
5. The scourge of terrorism all too frequently disregarded that most basic of human rights, 
the right to life.  The inhuman cruelty of the terrible attacks of September 2001 had awakened 
the world to the need for concerted action to put an end to terrorism.  That campaign must, 
however, be waged within a framework of complete respect for fundamental rights and freedoms 
and the rule of law.  That was the only way to ensure that democratic values would prevail and 
that societies would be able to live in peace. 
 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 3 
 
6. In a globalizing world, it was important not to remain passive in the face of human rights 
violations.  Authoritarian regimes were becoming reluctant to apply cruel and indiscriminate 
repression policies against those fighting for the freedom and dignity of their people, because 
they knew that, sooner or later, they would be brought to justice by the international community.  
The establishment of special tribunals for Rwanda and the former Yugoslavia, and the institution 
of legal proceedings against former dictators had been important steps forward:  human rights 
could not be considered internal affairs protected by borders and the principle of national 
sovereignty.  The International Criminal Court, which the Union hoped would be established in 
the near future, would represent a new stage in the institutionalization and reaffirmation of 
universal human rights. 
 
7. Discrimination continued to afflict many unprotected people around the world.  
International Women�s Day had just been celebrated and it was important to remember how 
much remained to be done, not only with regard to discrimination itself - which the Union 
continued to fight - but also with regard to basic respect for women�s dignity and freedom 
throughout the world.  The same applied to the rights of children and older people:  the Union 
hoped that the forthcoming special General Assembly session on children would make decisive 
advances and that the World Assembly on Ageing, to be held in Madrid in April 2002, would 
help consolidate the rights and well-being of a growing sector of the population that frequently 
found itself unprotected and living in precarious conditions. 
 
8. The Union considered the death penalty and torture to be fundamental issues for analysis 
and discussion in the Commission.  The death penalty was basically at odds with human dignity 
and the Union would continue to fight for its universal abolition and, where abolition was not yet 
possible, for moratoria and for non-application in cases involving minors or the mentally 
handicapped. 
 
9. Torture was one of the most hateful and contemptible violations of human rights.  
The Commission would have an historic opportunity at its current session to make progress 
in the area of preventive action, since it was to consider the draft optional protocol to the 
Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, 
which envisaged a mechanism of preventive visits.  He paid tribute to the courage of the 
Chairperson-Rapporteur of the working group and said that the Union believed the text of the 
draft was a balanced one that should be preserved. 
 
10. The Union hoped that the Commission�s session would be an occasion, not for 
concealing problems, but for solving them together, and it offered its own efforts and openness 
to dialogue to that end. 
 
STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER OF STATE IN CHARGE OF HUMAN RIGHTS 
OF TURKEY 
 
11. Mr. ARSEVEN (Turkey) recalled that Turkey had been one of the founding members of 
the United Nations and the Council of Europe and one of the first 50 States to adopt the 
Universal Declaration of Human Rights.  Universal values such as equality and respect for 
human dignity and human rights constituted the very foundation of his country�s constitutional 
system. 



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 4 
 
12. The Commission�s current session was taking place in a different atmosphere as a result 
of the tragic events of 11 September 2001, which had shown that terrorism was one of the most 
important problems facing the international community and required solidarity and urgent 
concerted action on the part of the international community.  Turkey had itself suffered greatly 
from terrorism over the preceding two decades and had repeatedly stated that terrorism could not 
be justified and was not unique to any religion, nationality or geographical location.  Time and 
again it had called for a fully fledged strategy against that menace, with the participation of all 
States and international organizations and without any double standards. 
 
13. The painful experiences of the twentieth century had shown that peace and stability could 
be achieved only through respect for human rights, dialogue and cooperation and, as a member 
of organizations such as the Council of Europe, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) 
and the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) and a candidate for 
membership of the European Union, Turkey was striving to ensure global peace and stability and 
promote democracy and human rights.  The need to protect human rights had assumed 
international dimensions which transcended national boundaries, although the protection and 
promotion of human rights were still primarily the responsibility of individual States. 
 
14. At the domestic level, Turkey had launched a comprehensive reform process for the 
promotion and protection of human rights and, in 2001, a series of legal reforms had been 
enacted by Parliament to strengthen democracy, promote respect for human rights and 
fundamental freedoms, consolidate the rule of law and the independence of the judiciary and 
fulfil international obligations.  The death penalty had been abolished except in times of war and 
imminent threat of war and for crimes of terrorism.  It was noteworthy that no death sentence had 
been executed during the previous 18 years.  The various reforms had been drafted in accordance 
with the provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights so as to ensure the highest 
possible standard of human rights protection and to meet the Copenhagen Criteria to be observed 
in preparation for membership of the European Union. 
 
15. On 6 February 2002, enabling legislation had been adopted by Parliament, with the 
support of the opposition parties, to amend the Penal Code, the Anti-Terrorism Act and other 
laws.  A new Civil Code which included provisions strengthening general equality, the right to 
association and the rights of the child had entered into force on 1 January 2002. 
 
16. Administrative and structural arrangements were also being made to ensure the 
implementation of the new reforms and, for example, human rights councils, made up of 
representatives of civil society, had been established.  A bill on the establishment of an 
ombudsman�s office had been presented to Parliament and particular importance was being 
attached to human rights education for security forces, judges, lawyers, human rights trainers 
and the police.  Administrative arrangements for the promotion of human rights were the 
responsibility of his Ministry in cooperation with the representatives of civil society and their 
joint efforts should greatly reduce human rights violations.  His Government was determined to 
strengthen its cooperation with civil society. 
 
17. Efforts were continuing to bring Turkish prisons into line with the United Nations 
Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners and the prison rules of the Council of 
Europe and the recommendations of the European Committee for the Prevention of Torture 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 5 
 
regarding F-type prisons were also being considered.  In addition, the International Covenant on 
Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 
and the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination 
would soon be ratified by Parliament, thus making Turkey a party to all six of the principal 
international human rights treaties. 
 
18. Since the early 1980s, the campaign against terrorism had delayed the reform process.  
However, the new atmosphere of peace had allowed the process to be accelerated.  His 
Government was committed to eliminating the existing shortcomings and improving human 
rights practices and had opted for ensuring broad public support for amendments on sensitive 
human rights issues, a process which might be slow but was, in the end, healthier.  The second 
democracy package, which included for example the right to broadcast in ethnic languages, 
would soon be debated in Parliament.  It counted on the support and cooperation of the 
international community and, while welcoming constructive criticism, believed that self-serving 
and biased criticism was unproductive. 
 
19. He urged rapid implementation of the decisions adopted at the World Conference against 
Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance.  With 4 million of its 
citizens living abroad, his Government would continue its efforts to protect them against 
discrimination and to ensure respect for the human rights of migrants, migrant workers and their 
families, including their integration into the host society while at the same time preserving their 
identities. 
 
STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SLOVENIA 
 
20. Mr. RUPEL (Slovenia), having endorsed the statement by the representative of Spain on 
behalf of the European Union, said that the vicious terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 had 
made everyone realize how interdependent issues affected different parts of the world and how 
international cooperation was vital in areas such as the fight against terrorism, the universality of 
human rights, socio-economic equality and international justice. 
 
21. Terrorism was a direct negation of human rights which must be fought by all available 
means.  However, the fight against terrorism should not be conducted at the expense of existing 
human rights standards, since any erosion of human rights would be a triumph for the terrorists.  
There must be a commitment to open, tolerant and democratic societies, and special emphasis 
must be placed on respect for the international standards against discrimination, including those 
contained in the outcome of the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, 
Xenophobia and Related Intolerance.  The roots of terrorism should also be addressed, including 
socio-economic deprivation and the marginalization of large parts of the world�s population 
through poverty, illiteracy or disease. 
 
22. The universality of all human rights was the source of their strength.  Massive abuses 
of human rights and violations of international humanitarian law were increasingly a matter of 
concern to the international community as a whole, as reflected in the important developments 
in international criminal justice.  Not every crime against humanitarian law had been punished  



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 6 
 
but it was gratifying to see the perpetrators of the worst crimes in Rwanda and the former 
Yugoslavia being held to account in criminal tribunals.  In that connection, full cooperation with 
the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia was an international obligation 
that must be complied with if the past was to be confronted and true reconciliation achieved.  
More than ever, there was a need for an independent international criminal court; his country had 
therefore ratified the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court and was looking forward 
to its entry into force. 
 
23. His Government welcomed the recent initiatives to halt the vicious cycle of violence in 
the Middle East, particularly Security Council resolution 1397 (2002), with its affirmation of 
�a vision of a region where two States, Israel and Palestine, live side by side within secure and 
recognized borders�.  It was also vital that both sides should conform to basic human rights 
standards and humanitarian law.  
 
24. Turning to the situation in South-Eastern Europe, he welcomed the European 
Union-brokered agreement on a new relationship between Serbia and Montenegro, which was 
an important contribution to preserving peace and stability in the region and thus to its economic 
development and stability.  He gave details of one particular project carried out by his 
Government to contribute to stability in the region:  together with a number of partners, the 
Slovenian Ministry of Foreign Affairs had established a regional centre for the psychological and 
social well-being of children affected by armed conflicts in South-Eastern Europe.  Another 
Slovenian project he mentioned briefly was the International Trust Fund for Demining and Mine 
Victims Assistance, which worked in States affected by armed conflicts in the Balkans. 
 
25. His Government fully supported the standard-setting work of the Commission and the 
activities of its mechanisms.  For example, as part of its preparations for the World Conference 
against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance, it had submitted a 
declaration under article 14 of the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of 
Racial Discrimination recognizing the competence of the Committee on the Elimination of 
Racial Discrimination to receive communications from individuals.  The Special Rapporteur on 
toxic waste and the Special Rapporteur on disability of the Commission for Social Development 
were both due to visit Slovenia in 2002.  He hoped that agreement would soon be reached on the 
new optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 
Treatment or Punishment, which would establish an international visiting mechanism, as well as 
on an international instrument covering involuntary disappearances. 
 
26. As in any country, there were some deficiencies in the practical implementation of 
human rights standards in Slovenia.  His Government held regular meetings with non-
governmental organizations (NGOs), which drew its attention to such failings, pointing out, 
among other things, the need to ensure truly equal opportunities for women, who were under-
represented in the political decision-making process, generally earned less than men and were 
sometimes the victims of domestic violence.  Those meetings had also highlighted the growing 
problem of homophobia and the specific concerns of disabled persons.  Such a dialogue was 
invaluable in the Government�s endeavours to establish a society in which every citizen enjoyed 
equal rights protection and which thrived on and encouraged plurality as a positive force. 
 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 7 
 
STATEMENT BY THE MINISTER FOR FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF SWEDEN 
 
27. Ms. LINDH (Sweden) paid tribute to Mrs. Robinson, the United Nations 
High Commissioner for Human Rights, for the integrity and independence she had shown in 
carrying out her difficult task, and said it was most regrettable that she would not be seeking a 
renewed mandate.   
 
28. Human rights were a cornerstone of her Government�s foreign policy, particularly in an 
age of economic globalization, when markets without borders needed to be balanced by values 
without borders.  Although the promotion of human rights was one of the international 
community�s priorities, violations of those rights continued to occur.  Accession to international 
human rights instruments was important, but not enough:  they must also be fully implemented.  
In that connection, the establishment of the International Criminal Court would be a crucial step 
towards strengthening international law and combating impunity.   
 
29. The international community had to act when international law and human rights were 
violated in conflicts, such as the one in the Middle East, where the situation had become 
intolerable.  Her Government was concerned at Israel�s extrajudicial killings, summary 
executions and the use of excessive and indiscriminate force against civilians together with the 
attacks by the Israel Defence Force on ambulances and hospitals, in violation of the Geneva 
Convention.  It was equally concerned at the Palestinian suicide bombings and terrorist acts 
against Israeli civilians.  A political solution based on international law, including the relevant 
Security Council resolutions, and on the principle of land for peace must be found.  She called 
on both parties to comply with their obligations under international and humanitarian law and 
human rights conventions:  agreement on the establishment of an international monitoring 
mechanism would be a constructive step towards ensuring respect for those laws and 
instruments. 
 
30. The international community had also to act when children were abused or when 
their rights to education, health care and safety were neglected.  To protect the rights of children 
was to invest in the world�s common future.  Girls were in particular need of protection, against 
such things as violence, sexual abuse and female genital mutilation.  The forthcoming special 
General Assembly session on children would give world leaders an opportunity to discuss the 
reality facing children in difficult situations and to consolidate the progress made in 
implementing children�s rights.  Her country would soon be ratifying the two optional protocols 
to the Convention on the Rights of the Child, and she urged other countries to do likewise. 
 
31. Action was also needed to protect the rights of women.  Trafficking in human beings, 
particularly the women and children sold into prostitution or forced labour, was a gross violation 
of human dignity:  its causes must be addressed, as must the consequences for its victims.  Her 
Government, which would soon be adopting a global strategy for combating the trafficking in 
human beings, supported projects to help persons at risk and to rehabilitate victims.  There must 
be no impunity for the perpetrators of killings committed in the name of passion or honour.  
Empowering women was the key to justice, development and democracy, including in 
Afghanistan, where an end to discrimination against women and girls and the involvement of 
women in decision-making must be a priority in the rebuilding process.   
 



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 8 
 
32. Action must be taken to put an end to the death penalty, which was an unacceptable 
penalty in all circumstances, including in times of war and imminent threat of war.  That barbaric 
practice was most evident in China, Saudi Arabia, the United States of America, the Islamic 
Republic of Iran, and Iraq, but it was still in use in many other countries and some Governments 
were considering reintroducing it.  She urged them not to resort to that primitive form of 
punishment. 
 
33. Action must be taken to prevent torture, which was never a means to search for the truth 
but always a way to cover up the shortcomings of society, and there must be no impunity for 
those who inflicted torture on others.  Noting that the members of the European Union were in 
favour of adopting the draft optional protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, 
Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, she urged all countries to cooperate with the 
Special Rapporteur on the question of torture. 
 
34. Action must be taken to safeguard freedom of expression, association and assembly.  
Knowledge was a prerequisite for people to be able to claim their rights, which was why the 
right to freedom of opinion and expression was so feared by dictators:  in Belarus, for example, 
journalists were persecuted; in China, religious minorities were detained; in Turkey, Kurds were 
harassed; and in Zimbabwe, the recent elections had made a mockery of democracy.   
 
35. Action must also be taken against discrimination.  Diversity and the active participation 
of all members of society were crucial factors in stability and social cohesion.  It was 
unacceptable that persons should be abused or discriminated against on grounds such as race, 
colour, sex, religion or ethnic origin.  Discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation, in 
particular, was a violation of several human rights. 
 
36. Action must also be taken against terrorism, which was one of the worst threats to human 
rights and a threat to open democratic society.  She welcomed the legislative and other measures 
adopted by many States in the aftermath of the 11 September 2001 terrorist attacks but said that 
the fight against terrorism should not be used as an excuse to repress political opponents, 
separatist movements or religious minorities.  There was no trade-off between effective action 
against terrorism and the protection of human rights.  She welcomed the High Commissioner�s 
proposal to strengthen respect for human rights in the fight against terrorism within the 
United Nations and also the proposal that all members of the Commission should review their 
national situations.   
 
37. Lastly, the Commission not only needed to speak out and take action but also to 
cooperate and to replace resistance with involvement.  It must set its standards high, and it must 
deliver on its promises. 
 
STATEMENT BY THE DEPUTY PRIME MINISTER OF CROATIA 
 
38. Ms. ANTUNOVIĆ (Croatia) said that her Government was determined to pursue a policy 
of full openness to the international mechanisms for the protection and promotion of human 
rights.  At the domestic level, it had set up the Human Rights Commission to prepare the  



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 9 
 
National Plan of Action for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights.  It had also 
established the Office for Human Rights, a permanent body that would coordinate all human 
rights activities in Croatia.   
 
39. There was ongoing cooperation in human rights between Croatia and OHCHR:  together 
with the European Commission, they had organized the International Conference on Human 
Rights and Democratization in Dubrovnik in October 2001, with the aim of reviewing regional 
cooperation on human rights and identifying possible areas for technical cooperation in Europe, 
Central Asia and the Caucasus.  That cooperation between her Government and OHCHR, which 
had started in 1999 had proved most successful.  Her country had benefited greatly from the 
Technical Cooperation Programme and believed that, by the end of 2002, all points of difficulty 
would have been settled.   
 
40. Her Government participated in a number of regional initiatives and programmes, 
including the Stability Pact for South-Eastern Europe, and particularly the activities of Working 
Table 1 on Democratization and human rights.  It had also signed a Stabilization and Association 
Agreement with the European Community in October 2001, formalizing the institutional ties 
between Croatia and the European Union.  Croatia had ratified most United Nations and 
European human rights treaties, the standards of which had largely been incorporated into 
domestic legislation.  Croatian courts had begun to take account of the provisions of such treaties 
and of judgements by the European Court of Human Rights.   
 
41. Attempts were also being made to tackle the remaining post-war recovery issues, 
although economic difficulties continued to impede the return of refugees and the rehabilitation 
of war-affected areas.  The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees played a crucial 
role in the ongoing return process to and from Croatia and the Agenda for Regional 
Action 2001-2003, one of the most successful undertakings of the Stability Pact, was 
particularly useful in that regard.  Demining was also a priority, for which international 
financial aid would be most useful.   
 
42. Another conflict-related issue directly relevant to relations among the States of the region 
was the bringing to justice of perpetrators of war crimes.  Her Government welcomed the 
extradition of the former President Milo�ević to the International Criminal Tribunal for the 
Former Yugoslavia and hoped that the same policy would be applied to the �Vukovar Three� and 
all other indicted war criminals. 
 
43. Despite disagreement on the adoption of the final document, the World Conference 
against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance had paved the way 
for further efforts to combat racism and other forms of discrimination.  The outcome of the 
Conference should be implemented through national legislation and the elaboration of national 
plans and bodies to combat racism.  Human rights education, especially for the young, was the 
best way to raise awareness.  As part of its preparation for the Conference, her Government had 
established a working group that would soon be transformed into the National Committee for the 
Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination.  A separate, independent working group, made up 
of law professors, would oversee anti-discrimination legislation.  A National Plan of Action to  



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 10 
 
implement the Conference recommendations would shortly be elaborated.  The Government had 
also taken steps towards making the declaration specified in article 14 of the International 
Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination 
 
44. Her Government strongly supported the right of every person to conscientious objection 
to military service.  The Commission should continue to call upon States to review their 
legislation and practices in that regard.  Additional efforts should also be made to regulate 
anti-torture activities; domestic legislation should comply with international standards.  Her 
Government supported the activities of the working group on a draft optional protocol to the 
Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment to 
establish an independent, international preventive mechanism to investigate places of detention.  
She urged all States to become parties to the Second Optional Protocol to the International 
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, aiming at the abolition of the death penalty.  Her 
Government had been actively involved in drafting Protocol No. 13 to the European Convention 
on Human Rights on abolition of the death penalty in all circumstances which, it hoped, would 
be widely accepted. 
 
45. In the aftermath of the conflict in Croatia, her Government attached particular 
importance to the Convention on the Rights of the Child and welcomed the forthcoming special 
General Assembly session on children.  In that context, she announced that her Government had 
decided to ratify both the Optional Protocols to the Convention.  The country�s National Human 
Rights Education Committee had also developed the National Programme on Human Rights 
Education, which would be adopted as an integral part of the regular school curriculum. 
 
46. As a party to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against 
Women, her Government had strengthened its commitment by ratifying the Optional Protocol to 
the Convention.  Recent changes to the Constitution had explicitly underlined the importance of 
gender equality.  On the basis of the outcome of the twenty-third special session of the 
General Assembly, the Governmental Commission for Gender Equality, together with NGOs 
dealing with gender issues, had prepared a new National Policy for the Promotion of Gender 
Equality for the period 2001-2005.  An Action Plan to implement the National Policy had also 
been approved.  One immediate priority was to draft the relevant legislation, which should be 
completed during 2002.  Another priority was to prepare a national strategy for combating all 
forms of violence against women.   
 
47. Her Government was also taking steps to develop a national strategy to combat 
trafficking in women and children.  Croatia not only lay on one of the main routes for 
people-trafficking but also risked becoming a destination country.  The Government was 
therefore working on the establishment of a national committee to combat the problem.  
 
48. Her Government had already clearly shown its readiness to join in the global struggle 
against terrorism.  Respect for human rights and freedoms should, however, be ensured in the 
legitimate fight against international terrorism.  She was confident that the Commission would 
provide appropriate answers to the current challenges. 
 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 11 
 
ORGANIZATION OF THE WORK OF THE SESSION (agenda item 3) 
 
49. The CHAIRPERSON said that there appeared to be general support for the main rules 
and practices contained in the note by the secretariat (E/CN.4/2002/16), which were simply 
intended to ease the Commission�s task and bring as much efficiency as possible to bear on its 
work.  Such matters as the time allowed for each speaker were crucial if night meetings and long 
hours were to be avoided.  He believed that one delegation had reservations concerning a few 
paragraphs of the document. 
 
50. The Bureau had also given some careful thought to other, related issues, including the 
participation of NGOs in the Commission�s work; in accordance with well-established practice, 
it would work closely with the Economic and Social Council Committee on Non-governmental 
Organizations by way of regular weekly meetings.  NGOs should recognize that the existing 
rules must be implemented; delegations would then meet their requests halfway.  He urged 
NGOs to be flexible so that the work of the Commission could proceed.   
 
51. One of the Bureau�s basic principles was transparency; when informing the Commission 
of the Bureau�s work, he sought not to impose but merely to inform, in the interests of 
cooperative thinking. 
 
52. Mr. AKRAM (Pakistan), speaking on behalf of the Organization of the Islamic 
Conference (OIC), said that respect for and the promotion of human rights was one of the main 
pillars of Islam and an important item of the OIC agenda.  OIC had adopted resolutions 
condemning the violations of human rights of Islamic peoples in Palestine and the other 
occupied Arab territories, Jammu and Kashmir, and Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Armenian 
aggression against Azerbaijan and the inhuman isolation imposed on the Turkish Cypriot people.  
In its approach to its work within the Commission, OIC was imbued with the Islamic 
prescription of dialogue. 
 
53. The Islamic world considered terrorism to be a grave violation of human rights and 
condemned it in all its forms and manifestations, including State terrorism.  There must be a 
clear definition distinguishing terrorism from the legitimate struggles of peoples for the right 
to self-determination and against foreign occupation or alien and colonial domination.  Attempts 
to exploit the aftermath of the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001 in order to justify 
intensification of repression in Palestine and Kashmir, for example, should be condemned by 
the international community.  OIC would seek action during the current session of the 
Commission to counter those who promoted Islamophobia and propaganda against 
Islamic values. 
 
54. OIC was opposed to the use or threat of force against any Islamic country.  The campaign 
to eradicate terrorism was unlikely to succeed if root causes such as foreign occupation, poverty, 
underdevelopment and the inequities in the international economic and social order were not 
addressed. 
 



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 12 
 
55. The Commission must assume its responsibility to halt the massive killings of innocent 
people in Palestine.  The Islamic countries deeply resented Israel�s failure to comply with the 
resolutions of the Commission and other United Nations bodies.  The principles of international 
law and humanity must be observed.  The best hope for a just peace in the Middle East lay with 
recent initiatives from the Arab and Islamic world. 
 
56. OIC called for dialogue between India and Pakistan to reduce the current dangerous 
levels of tension and seek a just solution to the Jammu and Kashmir dispute.  It was most 
concerned at the situation of Muslim communities in several other countries. 
 
57. The OIC member States called for the Commission to rationalize its work by dealing 
with resolutions on a biennial basis and focusing on important current issues.  They valued the 
services of the special rapporteurs and suggested that they should discuss the issues to be 
addressed in their future reports and present their reports in accordance with Economic and 
Social Council guidelines. 
 
58. In the interests of transparency in negotiating resolutions, OIC urged sponsors to give 
serious consideration to the proposals of the Islamic countries. 
 
59. OIC believed that the work of the Sub-Commission should be guided by the 
Commission�s recommendations on the review of mechanisms.  It also called for discontinuation 
of the practice of sharing confidential information under the procedure governed by Economic 
and Social Council resolution 1503 (XLVIII) with the Commission on the Status of Women.  
Such exchanges had no legal basis and might violate the confidentiality of the procedure. 
 
60. Lastly, he said that OIC deeply appreciated the role of NGOs in the promotion of human 
rights.   They were encouraged to issue joint statements wherever feasible and to follow 
Economic and Social Council guidelines for their participation in the Commission�s work. 
 
61. Mr. NOGAWA (Japan), speaking on behalf of the Asian Group, stressed the continuing 
need to streamline and rationalize the Commission�s methods of work.  The Commission must 
make the best possible use of the time available by testing effective time-management methods, 
limiting additional and night meetings, avoiding parallel informal meetings, ensuring punctuality 
and facilitating and rationalizing NGO participation. 
 
62. Even more importantly, the highest priority must be placed on creating an atmosphere of 
dialogue, cooperation, consultation, understanding and consensus-building to enhance the 
Commission�s effectiveness and avoid politicization of its work, including under agenda 
item 9.  That would lead to greater compliance and cooperation on the part of Member States and 
strengthen international cooperation for the promotion and protection of human rights.  
Accordingly, he urged the Chairperson, other groups and all delegations to facilitate transparent 
consultations on all draft resolutions by providing sufficient notice of time slots and avoiding 
parallel consultations as much as possible, in the interests of the smaller delegations. 
 
63. While welcoming the participation of NGOs in the Commission�s work his Group 
thought that their role must be clarified and unauthorized participation should be avoided so as to 
ensure that they made a positive contribution.  The Secretariat should thus determine the status 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 13 
 
of NGOs prior to the Commission�s meetings and carefully examine requests to make 
statements.  Joint statements should be encouraged and limits on the number and length of 
statements should be strictly observed; NGOs which were absent from the room at their 
allotted time should not be given another opportunity to speak on the same agenda item.  The 
Secretariat should also strictly enforce the guidelines set out in Economic and Social Council 
resolution 1996/31.  Such measures were essential for ensuring an atmosphere of dialogue and 
cooperation between Government delegations and NGOs, while maintaining the objectivity, 
representativeness and effectiveness of NGO participation. 
 
64. Despite the concerns raised by his Group in the past, NGO accreditation procedures had 
not always been fully complied with and had even at times been abused, which had a negative 
effect on the Commission�s proceedings and undermined the valuable contributions made by 
responsible NGOs.  In the past, for example, some NGO representatives had misled fellow 
representatives into unwittingly subscribing to spurious documents and there was a definite need 
for transparent guidelines on the responsibility of signatories to documents.  Politically 
motivated and scurrilous material should not be circulated and the Secretariat should resume its 
practice of editing all documents submitted by NGOs for circulation as official documents, in 
accordance with Economic and Social Council resolution 1996/31.  Furthermore, NGOs not 
having consultative status with the Council should not be allowed to distribute documents during 
the Commission�s session. 
 
65. Any misuse of accreditation procedures or the rules of procedure should be addressed by 
an intergovernmental body such as the Committee on Non-Governmental Organizations in 
New York, although that would not prevent the Bureau from taking steps within the framework 
of the rules of procedure during the session.  In that regard, and with a view to enhancing the 
transparency and credibility of NGOs at the Commission, the Secretariat should, in consultation 
with the Committee on Non-Governmental Organizations, circulate each year a list of NGOs 
which had been denied consultative status with the Economic and Social Council. 
 
66. Concerning the interactive debates with special rapporteurs and other mandate holders, 
his Group took the view that such debates should follow the same pattern as in the Third 
Committee of the General Assembly and be restricted to States and mandate holders. 
 
67. In keeping with the efforts being made elsewhere in the United Nations system to reduce 
the length of meetings, his Group once again suggested that the length of the Commission�s 
sessions be reduced to four weeks.  Measures such as the biennialization and clustering of 
agenda items, reduction of the number and length of resolutions, discontinuation of outmoded 
resolutions and strict observance of speaking time limits should be considered by the Bureau in 
consultation with the regional groups.  It was also important that documents be distributed well 
in advance in order to ensure their proper consideration by delegations. 
 
68. The Asian Group would spare no effort to cooperate with the Chairperson and the Bureau 
in handling the complex issues on the agenda in a harmonious and constructive way and hoped 
that its example would be followed by all other delegations in order to ensure the success of the 
fifty-eighth session. 
 



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 14 
 
69. Mr. FERNANDEZ PALACIOS (Cuba), having associated himself with the statement 
about to be made by the representative of Indonesia on behalf of the Like-Minded Group (LMG) 
and stressed the need to prevent the Commission from being used as a forum for efforts to 
promote political domination, said that, although a certain State had not been re-elected to the 
Commission, some other industrialized countries had seen fit to adopt its selective policy of 
demonizing the countries of the South.  He nevertheless believed that the Commission�s 
fifty-eighth session could be a turning point and open the way to true international cooperation 
on human rights. 
 
70. He was especially concerned by the trend towards the establishment of rules of behaviour 
which supported the status quo and failed to take into account the need for debate and respect for 
differences.  The note by the Secretariat on main rules and practices (E/CN.4/2002/16), for 
example, included some recent proposals which had not been accepted by consensus and tended 
to confirm certain negative practices in the Commission�s work.  Further in-depth review of the 
scope and possible consequences of the proposals contained in the note was necessary, 
particularly with regard to paragraphs 25, 26, 30, 32, 38, 41, 47, 48 and 54.  Furthermore, other 
important issues, such as the organization of the special debate, had been omitted from that 
document. 
 
71. The statistics in another note by the Secretariat (E/CN.4/2002/15) relating to the previous 
session revealed the Commission�s increasing inability to work effectively.  The growth in the 
number and length of documents made it more and more difficult to analyse properly the 
information provided.  Informal consultations were becoming less and less effective and some 
delegations seemed to believe that they could think and take decisions on behalf of the countries 
of the South.  His own delegation, however, would continue to exert its right to participate as a 
full member of the Commission. 
 
72. Mr. WISNUMURTI (Indonesia), speaking on behalf of the Like-Minded Group (LMG) 
of countries comprising, Algeria, Bangladesh, Bhutan, China, Cuba, Egypt, India, Indonesia, 
Iran, Malaysia, Myanmar, Nepal, Pakistan, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Sudan and Viet Nam, 
stressed the need for the Commission to deal seriously with current situations which affected 
the entire international community, including the violations of the human rights of Palestinians 
in the occupied territories, and the issue of terrorism in the aftermath of the events 
of 11 September 2001.  The spirit of cooperation arising out of the latter events should 
encourage Member States to promote dialogue and cooperation within the Commission.  
Regrettably, however, despite some improvement, discussions in the Commission remained 
prone to polarization and double standards seldom found elsewhere. 
 
73. It was most disturbing that a disproportionate number of country-specific resolutions 
sponsored by certain countries or groups of countries targeted the developing countries alone, 
including several countries from the Like-Minded Group which had been singled out year after 
year despite their efforts to improve their human rights record.  The Commission must adopt a 
more constructive approach based on dialogue and trust, in particular with regard to agenda 
item 9, and on restraint and courtesy, in order to promote understanding and cooperation. 
 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 15 
 
74. Although he acknowledged that NGOs made a valuable contribution to the promotion of 
human rights around the world, a number of them persisted in targeting specific countries and 
distributing slanderous material for political ends during the Commission�s sessions.  All 
NGOs must comply fully with the guidelines laid down in Economic and Social Council 
resolution 1996/31, particularly those in paragraphs 30 and 31 of that resolution, in order to 
avoid any misuse of United Nations resources by third parties for propaganda purposes.  Also, 
for the sake of greater transparency, the Secretariat should circulate a list of those NGOs denied 
consultative status before each session of the Commission. 
 
75. With regard to the draft timetable, he was in favour of holding the votes on agenda 
items 8 and 9 on different days, as experience had shown that it was unrealistic to schedule the 
voting on the many resolutions related to those items and to agenda item 10 on the same day. 
 
76. The theme of the special debate, and the choice of panellists, should be agreed upon by 
the Bureau in a transparent and democratic way.  The panellists should be appropriately qualified 
and their selection should take account of equitable geographic and gender representation.  The 
interactive debates with special rapporteurs during the session should follow the example of the 
those held in the Third Committee of the General Assembly and be exclusively debates between 
States and the mandate-holders. 
 
77. Sponsors of draft resolutions should ensure that their texts were circulated to all 
Commission members as early as possible in order to give them time to respond constructively.  
Moreover, informal consultations on draft resolutions should not be scheduled simultaneously, as 
that made it very difficult for countries with small delegations to participate in the discussions. 
 
78. The members of the Like-Minded Group were much concerned at the increasing 
problems with the Commission�s documentation, which had reached unacceptable levels at the 
current session.  Notwithstanding the rules on the circulation and translation of documents as laid 
down by the General Assembly and the resolutions of the Commission and other bodies, 
documents were issued extremely late or were unavailable in the six official languages - or even 
in the three working languages - while NGO statements were sometimes issued only in their 
original language even when submitted in good time. 
 
79. He stressed that, if OHCHR was to play a central role in the promotion and protection of 
human rights worldwide, it must adhere faithfully to the mandate handed down to it by the 
General Assembly in its resolution 48/141.  He concluded by expressing his Group�s 
appreciation of the hard work done by all those responsible for the functioning of the 
Commission and stressed that his comments were merely intended to propose ways to improve 
its efficiency. 
 
80. Mr. SHA Zukang (China), having endorsed the specific proposals on the organization of 
work put forward on behalf of the Like-Minded Group and the Asian Group, said that the biggest 
problem facing the Commission was the practice of pursuing political confrontation in the name 
of human rights.  Some countries or groups of countries, for domestic political reasons, made 
wanton accusations against other countries, which led to unproductive confrontation and reduced 
the credibility of the Commission in the eyes of the developing countries. 
 



E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
page 16 
 
81. The kind of spirit of international solidarity and cooperation shown after the terrorist 
attacks on the United States of America on 11 September 2001 was also needed in the field of 
human rights.  Indeed, there were signs of a more positive atmosphere in various international 
forums, including the Working Group on the Right to Development, and he hoped that the 
current session of the Commission would benefit from that trend. 
 
82. The Commission should pay more attention to the needs of the developing countries and 
to the promotion of economic, social and cultural rights and the right to development, which 
were not adequately reflected in its agenda.  Moreover, the approach to the promotion of those 
rights could not simply be a copy of the approach to the promotion of civil and political rights.  
The international community should help the developing countries to remove the obstacles to the 
realization of their economic, social and cultural rights, such as the unjust international 
economic, financial and trade order.  Simply establishing monitoring mechanisms would not be 
sufficient. 
 
83. The proliferation of parallel and night meetings made it difficult for delegations, 
especially those from small countries, to participate fully in the work of the Commission and 
should be curtailed.  Working groups and rapporteurs could help the Secretariat to provide 
documentation on time by limiting their reports to the prescribed length. 
 
84. The participation of NGOs in the work of the Commission also needed to be strictly 
regulated.  While they provided valuable input, some of them had abused their status to the point 
of negating the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations.  Some individuals 
representing several NGOs spoke many times on the same agenda item, while government 
representatives and observers faced ever greater restrictions on the speaking time allocated to 
them. 
 
Statements in exercise of the right of reply 
 
85. Mr. DOGAN (Observer for Turkey) said that the arbitrary reference to his country by the 
Minister for Foreign Affairs of Sweden had been baseless, inappropriate and unacceptable.  
Turkey was a democratic country with elected representatives, not a dictatorship, as she had 
implied.  Freedom of belief and expression was enjoyed and there was no discrimination on 
ethnic or other grounds.  The Swedish Government seemed to have difficulty in distinguishing 
between human rights and terrorism:  the only people �harassed� in Turkey were terrorists:  their 
ethnic background - whether Kurdish or Turkish - was immaterial. 
 
86. Mr. NAZARIAN (Armenia) said he regretted that, despite the Commission�s 
determination to enhance the effectiveness of its proceedings, the representative of Pakistan had 
chosen to refer to issues unrelated to agenda item 3.  Moreover, his comments, which included 
the unacceptable labelling of the region in which Armenia was situated, were misinformed.  The 
representative of Pakistan was, however, correct in drawing a clear distinction between the right 
to self-determination and aggressive attempts at secession.  The Nagorny Karabakh region was a 
good example of the latter. 
 



  E/CN.4/2002/SR.2 
  page 17 
 
87. Mr. ASADOV (Observer for Azerbaijan) said that it was well-known that his country had 
for 40 years been suffering from aggression by Armenia, whose armed forces were responsible 
for crimes against humanity in which thousands had been killed or wounded.  Over 1 million 
inhabitants of Azerbaijan - one person in eight of the population - had been forced to live in 
refugee camps or other temporary shelter.  His Government was doing its utmost to mitigate the 
impact of Armenian aggression, for which the representative of Armenia yet again sought to 
avoid responsibility. 
 
88. Mr. NAZARIAN (Armenia) said that the sole purpose of the remarks by the observer for 
Azerbaijan seemed to be to discredit Armenia, Nagorny Karabakh and the entire peace process 
being conducted by the OSCE.  It was unethical to make defamatory statements to the 
Commission, politicizing the debate from the outset, at a time when members were attempting to 
focus on agenda item 3.  The observer for Azerbaijan should refrain from provocative statements 
and turn his attention to the issues under discussion. 
 
89. Mr. ASADOV (Observer for Azerbaijan) said that the acceptance by the Armenian 
Parliament in 1989 of the annexation of a part of Azerbaijani territory did not tend to support 
Armenia�s contention that it had no territorial claims on Azerbaijan.  It was to be hoped that the 
Government of Armenia would pay due consideration at last to the destiny of a people longing 
for justice. 
 
90. The CHAIRPERSON appealed to the members of the Commission to observe their own 
regulations and adhere strictly to the agenda item under consideration. 
 
 

The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m. 
 
 


